### **CUYAHOGA COUNTY**

and the

# OHIO PATROLEMEN'S BENEVOLENT ASSOCIATION

## PROTECTIVE SERVICES OFFICERS

**Collective Bargaining Agreement** 

01/01/24-12/31/26

#### **Table of Contents**

Article		Page
SECTION 1.	INDRODUCTORY	
	INDRODUCTORY	1
PREAMBLE		1
ARTICLE 1	PURPOSE OF AGREEMENT	1
ARTICLE 2		1
ARTICLE 3	MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	1
SECTION 11.	UNION-RELATED	
ARTICLE 4	UNION RECOGNITION	2
ARTICLE 5		2
ARTICLE 6	UNION REPRESENTATION	2
ARTICLE 7	UNION SECURITY	3
ARTICLE 8	UNION BUSINESS LEAVE OF ABSENCE	4
ARTICLE 9	UNION RIGHTS	4
ARTICLE 10	NO STRIKE/NO LOCKOUT	4
ARTICLE 11	BULLETIN BOARDS & DIST. OF UNION MATERIALS	5
ARTICLE 12	LABOR/MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE	6
SECTION III	. WAGES & BENEFITS	
ARTICLE 13	WAGES	6
ARTICLE 14	SHIFT DIFFERENTIAL	7
ARTICLE 15	LONGEVITY	8
ARTICLE 16	UNIFORM & EQUIPMENT	8
ARTICLE 17	HOURS OF WORK	9
ARTICLE 18	OVERTIME	9
ARTICLE 19	COURT TIME PAY	11

#### **Table of Contents - Continued**

<u>Article</u>		Page
ARTICLE 20	CALL-IN PAY	11
ARTICLE 21	HOLIDAYS	11
ARTICLE 22	HEALTH INSURANCE	12
ARTICLE 23	LIFE INSURANCE	14
ARTICLE 24	PERSONAL LIABILITY INSURANCE	14
ARTICLE 25	RETIREMENT	14
SECTION IV	TERMS & CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT	
ARTICLE 26	SENIORITY	14
ARTICLE 27	SHIFT/DAYS OFF & SECURITY POST ASSIGNMENTS	15
ARTICLE 28	POST ORDERS	17
ARTICLE 29	HEALTH AND SAFETY	17
ARTICLE 30	SHOOTING INCIDENTS	20
ARTICLE 31	FACIAL HAIR	21
ARTICLE 32	EMPLOLYEE RIGHTS AND DISCIPLINE	21
ARTICLE 33	GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	23
ARTICLE 34	HIRING	26
ARTICLE 35	NON-USE OF EMPLOYEE VEHICLE	26
ARTICLE 36	PARKING	26
ARTICLE 37	TEMPORARY POST CLOSINGS	26
ARTICLE 38	OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT	26
ARTICLE 39	LAYOFF AND RECALL	27

#### **Table of Contents - Continued**

<u>Article</u>		Page			
SECTION V.	LEAVES				
ARTICLE 40	SICK LEAVE	28			
ARTICLE 41	SICK LEAVE DONATION PROGRAM	30			
ARTICLE 42	FITNESS-FOR-DUTY EXAM/SUBSTANCE ABUSE	31			
ARTICLE 43	FITNESS-FOR-DUTY EXAM/OTHER	33			
ARTICLE 44	FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE ACT	33			
ARTICLE 45	VACATION LEAVE	33			
ARTICLE 46	INJURY/ILLNESS LEAVE/WAGE CONTINUATION	34			
ARTICLE 47	BEREAVEMENT LEAVE	35			
ARTICLE 48	JURY DUTY/COURT LEAVE	36			
ARTICLE 49	PERSONAL COURT LEAVE	36			
ARTICLE 50	MILITARY LEAVE	36			
ARTICLE 51	LEAVE OF ABSENCE WITHOUT PAY	37			
SECTION VI.	MISCELLANEOUS				
ARTICLE 52	SEVERABILITY	38			
ARTICLE 53	MODIFICATION	38			
ARTICLE 54	REPRODUCTION OF AGREEMENT	38			
ARTICLE 55	PROMOTIONS	38			
ARTICLE 56	PAYROLL ERRORS	39			
ARTICLE 57	DURATION	39			
SIDE LETTER OF AGREEMENT					

#### SECTION 1. INTRODUCTORY

#### **PREAMBLE**

This Agreement is entered into by and between Cuyahoga County, hereinafter known as "the County" or the "Employer" and the Ohio Patrolmen's Benevolent Association, hereinafter known as the "Union" representing Employees, herein defined as Security Officers, a.k.a. Protective Services Officers and hereinafter known as "Employees" in the Cuyahoga County Sheriff's Department.

#### **Article 1. PURPOSE OF AGREEMENT**

It is the intention of this Agreement to: (1) maintain harmonious relations between Cuyahoga County and its Employees represented by the Union; (2) that all dealings between the parties hereto shall be conducted in a legal manner and consistent with efficient and progressive service towards the Employer, the Employees, and the public interest; (3) to achieve and maintain a satisfactory and stabilized employer/employee relationship and to provide improved work performance; (4) to provide for the peaceful and equitable adjustment of differences which may arise, and to maintain the efficiency of the department; and (5) to provide for orderly, harmonious, and cooperative employee relations and to achieve and maintain the most efficient public service in the interest of not only the parties, but also the citizens of Cuyahoga County.

#### **Article 2. PLEDGE AGAINST DISCRIMINATION**

SECTION 1. The provisions of this Agreement shall be applied equally to all Employees in the bargaining unit, ensuring that Employees of the County will be employed in the public service without discrimination on the basis of race, color, religion, sex, national origin, sexual orientation, gender identity, disability, age, ancestry, marital status, political opinions or affiliations, veterans' status or for activities on behalf of the Union. Both parties equally share the responsibility for applying this provision of the Agreement.

#### **Article 3. MANAGEMENT RIGHTS**

**SECTION 1.** Unless the Employer agrees otherwise in this Agreement, nothing impairs the right and responsibility of the Employer:

- to determine matters of inherent managerial policy which include, but are not limited to, areas of
  discretion or policy such as the functions and programs of the public employer, its standards of
  services, its overall budget, its utilization of technology and organizational structure;
- 2) to direct, supervise, evaluate and hire Employees;
- 3) to maintain and improve the efficiency and effectiveness of operations;
- 4) to determine the overall methods, process, means and personnel by which operations are to be conducted;
- 5) to suspend, discipline, demote, or discharge for just cause, or lay off, transfer, assign, train, and administer tests based on the training, and schedule, promote and retain Employees;
- 6) to determine the adequacy and size of the work force;

- 7) to determine the overall mission of the Employer as a unit of government;
- 8) to effectively manage the work force;
- 9) to take actions to carry out the mission of the public Employer as a governmental unit;
- 10) to require a medical, toxicological, or psychological examination to determine performance capability and suitability for continued employment, at the Employer's expense, from a physician designated by the Employee.

Further, this Article does not limit the rights of the Employer under Ohio Revised Code Section 4117.08.

#### SECTION II. UNION-RELATED

#### **Article 4. UNION RECOGNITION**

SECTION 1. The Employer hereby recognizes the Union as the sole collective bargaining agent with respect to wages, hours, terms and other conditions of employment for Protective Services Officers as described by the State Employment Relations Board (SERB) Case No. 10-REP-04-0064, certified May 6, 2010, but excluding Supervisory and Management level personnel as defined by SERB.

**SECTION 2.** Notwithstanding the provisions of this article, confidential, fiduciary, casual, and seasonal employees shall be excluded from the bargaining unit.

#### Article 5. PROBATIONARY PERIOD

SECTION 1. Every newly-hired full-time Employee will be required to successfully complete a probationary period. The probationary period shall begin on the first day for which the Employee receives compensation from the Employer. The probationary period shall continue for a period of one hundred eighty (180) calendar days. Employees may be terminated during their probationary period for any reason without appeal.

SECTION 2. Probationary evaluations shall not be subject to the formal Grievance Procedure. Probationary Employees may join the Union but may not file grievances until they have satisfactorily completed their probationary period. The Union shall not review probationary evaluations.

#### **Article 6. UNION REPRESENTATION**

SECTION 1. For the purpose of processing grievances and collective bargaining, the Union shall be represented by six (6) Directors who shall be elected by members of the bargaining unit. No employee shall be permitted to serve as a Union Director who has less than one (1) year of employment. The Senior Director or his/her designee may attend all grievance hearings. If a grievance meeting is scheduled during regular duty hours of the Senior Director or his/her designee, and/or the grievant, they shall not suffer any loss of pay while attending the meeting.

SECTION 2. The Union shall supply the Employer with an updated list of names of the Directors that represent this unit on the effective date of this Agreement and at any time thereafter that changes occur.

**SECTION 3.** The Business Agent of the Union shall be permitted to visit on the premises to meet with the Union members with prior notification to the Employer. The Union agrees that such visits will be kept to a minimum.

SECTION 4. A Director shall be permitted to investigate and process a grievance within his/her shift and attend meetings as provided in the grievance procedure during working hours without loss of wages provided that such activity shall take into consideration the operational needs and work requirements of the Employer. All Directors investigating or processing a grievance shall first notify and receive approval from their immediate supervisor prior to beginning any such activity and permission shall not be unreasonably withheld.

#### **Article 7. UNION SECURITY**

SECTION 1. All present Employees who are members of the Union on the effective date of this Agreement or become members during the term of this agreement shall remain members of he Union provided that such employee may resign from the Union in accordance with state or federal law. Notice of resignation must be in writing and presented to the Union Representatives or the Employer during this period. The payment of an initiation fee and dues uniformly required of the membership shall be the only requisite condition of Union membership.

**SECTION 2.** Fair share fee will no longer apply. Unless and until the law changes to again permit withholding fair share fees, the Employer will not withhold them. If any federal or state body with authority over Ohio reinstitutes fair share fees, the Union and the Employer will meet within 30 calendar days to negotiate the fair share fee provisions of this Agreement.

SECTION 3. The Employer will deduct initiation fees and monthly dues from the pay of Employees covered by this Agreement and upon receipt from the Union of individual written authorization cards voluntarily executed by an Employee for that purpose and bearing his signature, with the exception of non-members. Deductions will be made from the pay of all Employees during the first pay period of each month. In the event of an Employee's first month pay being insufficient for such purpose, an amount equal to the shortage shall be deducted, but no greater than a double deduction, from the pay earned in the first pay of the following month, or if that is insufficient, a subsequent period. The Employer will be relieved of its obligation to check off an Employee's dues under Revised Code §4117.09(B)(2) if the Employee revokes dues checkoff in accordance with the authorization card and notifies the Employer and Union in writing. Copies of Employees' dues checkoff authorization cards are available from the Union on request.

**SECTION 4.** All deductions under this article, accompanied by an alphabetical list of all Employees for whom deductions have been made, showing the type of deduction made, shall be transmitted to the Union no later than he twentieth (20<sup>th</sup>) day following the end of the pay period

in which the deduction is made, and upon receipt, the Union shall assume full responsibility for this deposition of all funds deducted. Immediately upon hiring a new Employee, the Employer shall provide the Union the names and addresses of said Employees. The Union will distribute to such Employees all literature, which the Union feels is necessary to explain Union membership and the Union's role as exclusive bargaining agent.

SECTION 5. The Union will indemnify and save the Employer harmless from any action growing out of deductions made by the Employer hereunder and commenced by an employee against the Employer (or the Employer and Union jointly).

**SECTION 6.** All Employees of the bargaining unit shall have all rights and privileges set forth in Ohio Revised Code, Section 4117.09(C).

#### ARTICLE 8. UNION BUSINESS LEAVE OF ABSENCE

**SECTION 1.** Directors and bargaining committee members involved in union business will be permitted thirty (30) days, in the aggregate, leave without pay per contract year. Any additional time needed, may with the approval of the Employer, be taken from vacation or compensatory time. The Union shall give the Employer a seven (7) calendar day written notice of all Union business leave requests.

#### **Article 9. UNION RIGHTS**

SECTION 1. The parties agree that the Employer will provide the Union with copies of all policy and procedure manuals, rules and regulation manuals, and Employee handbooks relative to this Unit. The Employer agrees to provide the Union, through its Business Agent, with a copy of any changes or amendments made to these documents during the term of this Agreement.

**SECTION 2.** A member of the bargaining unit designated by the Union shall be afforded the opportunity to speak on Union business to all newly hired Protective Services Officers.

**SECTION 3.** The Union agrees to furnish the Employer with six (6) copies of the Union constitution and other non-confidential information applicable to this unit within sixty (60) days after signing of this Agreement.

#### Article 10. NO STRIKE/NO LOCKOUT

SECTION 1. Inasmuch as this agreement provides machinery for the orderly resolution of grievances, the Employer and the Union recognize their mutual responsibility to provide for the uninterrupted services to the citizens of Cuyahoga County, employees, residents, temporary, or permanent, residing in County facilities.

Therefore, the Union agrees that neither it, its officers, agents, representatives, or members will authorize, instigate, cause, aid condone, or participate in any strike, sympathy strike, work stoppage, or any other interruption of operations or services of the Employer by its members or other employees of the Employer, during the term of this agreement. When the

Employer notifies the Union that any of its members are engaged in any such strike activity, as outlined herein, the Union shall immediately, conspicuously post notice over signature of an authorized representative of the Union to the effect that a violation is in progress and such notice shall instruct all Employees to immediately return to work.

Should the Union fail to post such notice, the Employer shall have the option of seeking appropriate legal remedies. Any Employee failing to return to work after notification by the Union, as provided herein, or who participates or promotes such strike activities, as previously outlined, may be disciplined and/or discharged and only the question of whether the Employee did, in fact, participate in or promote such action shall be subject to appeal.

**SECTION 2.** The Employer agrees that neither it, its officers, agents or representatives, individually or collectively, will authorize, instigate, cause, aid, or condone any lockout of bargaining unit Employees during the term of this Agreement.

#### Article 11. BULLETIN BOARDS & DISTRIBUTION OF UNION MATERIALS

**SECTION 1.** The Employer shall provide bulletin boards in a proper location solely for use by the Union to post official OPBA notices. It is agreed that the following notices can be posted which shall not require prior Employer approval:

- 1. Official OPBA notices or materials of Union business or concern, including procedures, informational notes, endorsements, opportunities, benefits, rules and regulations of the Union, notice of Union meetings, and election results.
- 2. No material shall be posted that is illegal, illicit, or otherwise considered unacceptable to the general public.
- 3. No writings or postings may contain anything critical of the Employer, any county department, or county employee.
- 4. A representative of the Union shall be permitted access to bulletin boards to post material.
  - 5. Bulletin Boards shall be placed at the following locations.
    - a. 1642 Lakeside Avenue
    - b. 1640 Superior Avenue Virgil E. Brown Building
    - c. 3955 Euclid Avenue Jane Edna Hunter Building
    - d. Juvenile Justice Center

**SECTION 2.** The Employer shall provide locking, glass enclosed bulletin boards at the above locations.

**SECTION 3.** The Employer shall provide the labor, time, and materials necessary to install the bulletin boards.

**SECTION 4.** The Union shall take sole responsibility for all materials placed upon the bulletin boards.

<u>SECTION 5.</u> Union representatives may distribute materials to all posts manned on each shift. Employee Representatives shall only engage in this activity on their own time, with prior notification to the Employer, and there shall be no disruption of the work force.

#### Article 12. LABOR/MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

SECTION 1. In the interest of sound labor/management relations, on a mutually agreeable day and time, the Employer or its designee(s) shall meet with the Union to discuss pending problems and to promote a more harmonious labor/management relationship. For purposes of this Section, the Union may consist of the Union Representative or his/her designee, the Chief Steward, and other stewards in the bargaining unit.

**SECTION 2.** The party initiating the meeting will furnish the other party at least five (5) working days in advance of the meeting with a list of all matters to be taken up and the names of the party representatives who will be in attendance. The purpose of such meetings shall be to:

- a) Discuss the administration of this Agreement;
- b) Notify the Union of proposed changes by the Employer which affect bargaining unit members of the Union;
- c) Disseminate general information of interest to the parties;
- d) Discuss ways to increase productivity and improve efficiency;
- e) Consider and discuss health and safety matters relating to Employees; and
- f) Consider recommendation for changes from the Union in standard operating procedure rules.

**SECTION 3.** If special labor/management meetings have been requested and mutually agreed upon, they shall be convened as soon as feasible.

#### SECTION III. WAGES & BENEFITS

#### Article 13. WAGES

SECTION 1. Remove steps one through three of the current scale and renumber the remaining steps as set forth below. Effective the first day of the pay period encompassing January 1, 2024, each step of the wage scale shall receive a general wage increase of two percent (2%). In addition, due to need for an equity adjustment, and after application of the general wage increase described above, employees shall be placed into the modified wage scale as follows:

An employee currently at step 1, step 2, or step 3 shall advance automatically to the NEW step 1. An employee currently at step 4 or 5 shall advance automatically to the NEW step 2.

Step	Current Scale	Step	New Scale
1	18.59	1	\$22.41
2	19.20	2	\$25.58
3	19.83		
4	20.74		
5	22.41		

SECTION 2. Effective the first day of the pay period encompassing January 1, 2025, each step of the wage scale shall receive a general wage increase of two percent (2%). In addition, due to the need for an equity adjustment, and after application of the general wage increase described above, the wage scale shall be as follows:

STEP	
1	\$23.41
2	\$27.91

SECTION 3. Effective the first day of the pay period encompassing January 1, 2026, each step of the wage scale shall receive a general wage increase of two percent (2%). In addition, due to the need for an equity adjustment, and after application of the general wage increase described above, the wage scale shall be as follows:

STEP	
1	\$24.41
2	\$28.75

<u>SECTION 4.</u> Only those employees who are in active status in the bargaining unit as of the date this Agreement is ratified by the Cuyahoga County Council shall be eligible for retroactive payment.

**SECTION 5.** During the term of this Agreement, an Employee shall advance one step on the wage schedule on the first day of the first full pay period of July. However, in 2024 only, an employee whose anniversary date of hire occurs prior to the first day of the first full pay period of July will instead advance one step on the wage schedule on their anniversary date of hire.

#### Article 14. SHIFT DIFFERENTIAL

**SECTION 1.** For purposes of determining an Employee's shift differential only, the parties agree to designate shift parameters as follows: first shift starting times shall be those from 4:00 am to 10:59 am; second shift starting times range from 11:00 am to 7:59 pm and third shift starting times are from 8:00 pm to 3:59 am. The determination of the shift to which an Employee is assigned is based on the Employee's regular staring time.

**SECTION 2.** All floaters shall be designated to work a specific shift and shall receive shift differential pursuant to the procedure identified herein.

SECTION 3. Employees who are designated as first Employees based on their start-times as stated in above shall receive no shift differential for all hours worked in pay status. Employees who are designated as second shift Employees based on their regular starting time as stated in Section 1 above shall receive twenty-five cents (\$0.25) per hour for all hours in pay status. Employees who are designated as third shift Employees as stated in Section 1 above shall receive fifty cents (\$0.50) per hour for all hours in pay status.

SECTION 4. If an Employee works overtime either before or after his/her regular assigned shift, the differential follows the Employee. For example, a designated second shift Employee working third shift or first shift overtime will receive overtime pay with a shift differential of twenty-five cents (\$0.25) for hours worked. A designated third shift Employee working first shift or second shift overtime will receive overtime pay with a shift differential of fifty cents (\$0.50) for hours worked. An Employee on first shift working overtime on third shift or second shift receives overtime pay with no shift differential.

#### Article 15. LONGEVITY

SECTION 1. Employees who have five (5) years of continuous, uninterrupted service with Cuyahoga County shall be paid a longevity allowance of \$250.00. Longevity will be paid in the pay period in which the anniversary date occurs. The Employee shall also be paid the amount of \$75.00 for each year of full continuous service after the initial five (5) years and is to be added to the original amount set forth the five (5) year period until a maximum of one thousand four hundred fifty dollars (\$1450.00) is reached. The said amounts, previously covered, shall be paid every year until the Employee retires. In the year of retirement, said allowance shall be paid but include the full years and prorated months in the retirement year.

#### Article 16. UNIFORM & EQUIPMENT

**SECTION 1.** The initial uniform issue shall be completed by the Employee's 90<sup>th</sup> day. The initial uniform issuance shall be:

Headgear	1 Winter	Duty Belt	1
Headgear	1 Summer	Handcuffs	1
SS Shirts	4	Handcuff Case	1
LS Shirts	4	Ammunition	25
Badge	2	Name Tag	1
Tie	2	Biohazard Kit	1
Pants	4	All Purpose Jacket	1
Less-than-Lethal	Device	Magazines	3
Holster	1	Belt keepers	4

Rain Coat

1

**SECTION 2.** Employees shall receive an annual uniform maintenance allowance of nine hundred dollars (\$900.00). The Employer agrees to replace unusable items in accordance with established practice.

SECTION 3. It is hereby recognized and agreed that all items issued pursuant to Section 1 of this article remain the property of the Employer. At the termination of employment, either voluntary or involuntary, the Employee must return all items issued by the Employer. It is further agreed that any item issued under this article that is not returned shall be deducted from any compensation due the Employee including, but not limited to, wage, vacation, or compensatory time. Each Employee further agrees that the final paycheck shall be held until the account is settled.

#### **Article 17. HOURS OF WORK**

SECTION 1. The normal workday shall consist of eight (8) hours. The normal workweek shall consist of five (5) consecutive workdays and two (2) consecutive days off, unless consecutive days off are not consistent with the operational needs of the post.

**SECTION 2.** Employees shall receive a thirty (30) minute paid lunch period. The Employer will make a reasonable effort to schedule the lunch break between the fourth and fifth hour of each Employee's shift.

**SECTION 3.** The Employer will provide a list of approved posts that may leave the premises for lunch and the corresponding boundaries.

**SECTION 4.** Reasonable requests for breaks during an Employee's shift shall not be unreasonably denied.

#### **Article 18. OVERTIME**

SECTION 1. An Employee required to work more than forty (40) hours in any workweek shall be compensated at one and one-half times his regular rate of pay, or, at the Employee's option, receive compensatory time credited at one and one-half hours for each overtime hour worked up to two hundred forty (240) hours. Employees shall be provided with the opportunity, on a weekly basis, to state their choice of compensation. Compensated holidays, vacation, compensatory time, and sick leave utilized for pre-approved medical appointments shall be considered time worked for purposes of the overtime calculation. Employees called into work on a scheduled day off shall be compensated at the rate of one and one-half times his regular rate of pay.

SECTION 2. Compensatory time may be accumulated up to two-hundred and forty (240) hours. Compensatory time shall be used within two (2) years of accrual. After two (2) years, accrued compensatory time shall be paid to the Employee.

#### **SECTION 3.** Use of compensatory time is subject to the following criteria:

- 1. If an Employee with accrued compensatory time requests permission to use such leave more than ninety-six (96) hours prior to the start of the requested leave, the Employer shall gran the request for leave unless the granting of that Employee's leave would unduly disrupt the effective functioning of the Department.
- 2. If an Employee requests accrued compensatory time less than ninety-six (96) hours but more than two (2) hours prior to the start of the requested leave, the Employer shall grant such leave so long as minimum staffing is met at the time the request is received by the Employer.
- 3. If an Employee requests accrued compensatory time two (2) hours or less prior to his/her scheduled work hours, the Employer shall grant the leave upon receipt of acceptable documentation of the Employee's emergency, medical circumstances affecting the Employee or other evidence of extenuating circumstances.
- 4. If an Employee requests accrued compensatory time two (2) hours or less before his/her scheduled work hours without acceptable documentation of the Employee's emergency, medical reason affecting the Employee or other extenuating circumstances, the Employer may at its discretion, grant or deny the request.
- 5. Any denial based on the Employer's exercise of discretion under section (4) of this Agreement shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.
- **SECTION 4.** Scheduled overtime will be distributed equitably on the basis of seniority as much as reasonably practicable based on the following procedure:
- 1. All Employees working the site, not necessarily the post, rotated based on seniority.
- 2. Rotating list of all Employees based on seniority.
- **SECTION 5.** Unscheduled overtime will be distributed equitably on the basis of seniority as much as reasonably practicable based on the following procedure:
- 1. All Employees working the site, not necessarily the post, and who are working the shift prior to the overtime opportunity on a rotating basis by seniority.
- **SECTION 6.** Overtime hours that are built-in to a scheduled post assignment shall not be counted for the purpose of rotating overtime opportunities.

**SECTION 7.** In the event that mandatory overtime is necessary, it will be rotated on the basis of inverse seniority, with the least senior Employee being assigned mandatory overtime first, then the next least senior, and or so on all the way up through the list. The mandatory overtime rotation will start over after each quarter.

**SECTION 8.** Supervisors shall make one (1) attempt to contact an Employee; it shall be logged and the Employee then offered the next assignment based on seniority.

#### **Article 19. COURT TIME PAY**

**SECTION 1.** When an Employee is required to attend a court hearing in direct connection with his/her position as a Protective Services Officer, the Employee shall be granted time off with pay to attend the court proceedings.

**SECTION 2.** If the court appearance is scheduled during the Employee's normal shift, the Employee shall be relieved of his/her regularly scheduled duties and compensated at his/her regular rate. The Employee shall be compensated for an additional three (3) hours beyond the end of his/her regular shift.

SECTION 3. An Employee who is required to attend a court proceeding in direct connection with his/her position as a Protective Services Officer on a day off shall be compensated for three (3) hours at time-and-a-half (1 ½) or actual hours worked at time-and-a-half (1 ½), whichever is greater.

#### Article 20. CALL-IN PAY

SECTION 1. An Employee who is required to report back to work at a time that he/she is normally scheduled off shall receive a minimum of three (3) hours of work or three (3) hours of pay in lieu thereof at the applicable rate. If a call-in assignment or meeting is less than three (3) hours in duration, the Employer may give the Employee the option to stay and work for the full three (3) hours or to leave and be compensated at the applicable rate only for the time actually worked. If the Employer orders the Employee to go home, the Employee shall receive a minimum of three (3) hours of pay at the applicable rate.

#### Article 21. HOLIDAYS

**SECTION 1.** All regular full-time Employees shall be entitled to the following holidays:

- 1) New Year's Day
- 2) Martin Luther King Day
- 3) Presidents' Day

- 6) Labor Day
- 7) Columbus Day
- 8) Veterans' Day

- 4) Memorial Day
- 5) Independence Day
- 9) Thanksgiving
- 10) Day after Thanksgiving
- 11) Christmas Day
- 12) Juneteenth

SECTION 2. Any Employee required to work one of the recognized holidays is entitled to receive compensation at the rate of one and one-half (1 & ½) times his/her regular rate of pay for all hours worked, in addition to receiving regular holiday pay.

SECTION 3. To be entitled to holiday pay, an Employee must be on the active payroll during the week in which the holiday occurs. Further, to be entitled to holiday pay, Employees must work their scheduled shift the workday before, during and the workday after the holiday. If the Employer does not schedule an Employee for the day before the holiday or the day after, the Employee shall receive holiday pay. For purposes of this article, a "scheduled shift" does not include vacation leave or approved compensatory time.

**SECTION 4.** An Employee who does not work on a recognized holiday shall receive eight (8) hours-straight time pay at his/her regular hourly rate. If an Employee's work schedule is other than Monday through Friday, the Employee shall receive, in addition to regular hourly pay, eight (8) hours of straight time pay at his/her regular rate for the holidays observed on the Employee's day off, regardless of the day of the week on which the holidays are observed.

#### Article 22. HEALTH INSURANCE

SECTION 1. An eligible Employee is defined as a full time Employee covered by this Agreement. The Flex Count Plan (the plan) is defined as the section 125 or cafeteria plan, which is provided by the Employer for health insurance, benefits for County employees. The Employer shall provide eligible Employees the opportunity to enroll in the plan once during each plan year at its annual open enrollment period. The plan year commences on January 1, and ends on December 31 of the calendar year, but is subject to change.

**SECTION 2.** Bi-weekly Employee contributions for medical and prescription drug benefits shall be determined as follows:

#### a) METROHEALTH PLAN

- 1) For all three years of the Agreement, the County shall offer an HAS plan through the MetroHealth System with no bi-weekly cost to employees;
- 2) The bi-weekly contribution for a non-HSA plan offered through MetroHealth shall be as follows:
  - a. Effective January 1, 2024: 93% Employer, 7% Employee

- b. Effective January 1, 2025: 93% Employer, 7% Employee
- c. Effective January 1, 2026: 93% Employer, 7% Employee.

#### b) OTHER BENEFIT PLANS

Biweekly health insurance contribution rates for all other plans shall be as follows:

- 1) Effective January 1, 2024: 86% Employer%, 14% Employee
- 2) Effective January 1, 2025: 86% Employer, 14% Employee
- 3) Effective January 1, 2026: 86% Employer, 14% Employee

SECTION 3. The costs of the medical and prescription drug plans will be determined through an actuarially certified process that is verified through an outside party and that includes reserves necessary to sustain the plans. In successive plan years, the Employer may add to or delete plans/providers offered and/or Employees may be offered additional plans with reduced or increased benefit levels.

SECTION 4. Effective January 1, 2024, the Employer shall contribute 86% of the costs for the ancillary benefit plans (i.e. vision and dental) and the Employee shall contribute 14% of the cost for ancillary benefit plans. Effective January 1, 2025, the Employer shall contribute 86% of the costs for the ancillary benefit plans and the Employee shall contribute 14% of the cost for ancillary benefit plans. Effective January 1, 2026, the Employer shall contribute 86% of the costs for the ancillary benefit plans and the Employee shall contribute 14% of the cost for ancillary benefit plans.

**SECTION 5.** The Employer shall be entitled to increase the cost containment features of the Flex Count plans which may include, but are not limited to, deductibles and co-insurance.

**SECTION 6.** The Employer may implement or discontinue incentives for employees to participate in Employer-sponsored wellness programs, including, but not limited to, the right to offer the opportunity to reduce employee contributions through participation in wellness programs as determined by the Employer.

**SECTION 7.** The Employer may offer incentives to encourage use of low cost providers/plans (including HSA plans) which may be discontinued or modified by the Employer in future plans years with notification to the Union.

**SECTION 8.** A waiting period of no more than one hundred twenty (120) calendar days may be required before new Employees are eligible to receive health and/or other insurance benefits. During the waiting period, the Employer may require Employees who desire coverage

to purchase it through a third-party vendor instead of participating in the County plans that are offered to regular full-time Employees. New Employees shall be eligible to participate in the County plans on the first date of the first month following completion of the waiting period.

**SECTION 9.** Prior to adopting any change in the health insurance plans impacting the bargaining unit, the Employer shall meet with a union committee comprised of an O.P.B.A. attorney and three (3) bargaining unit members. The purpose of the meeting is to provide the Union with an opportunity to discuss possible changes in the plans and to offer its input.

#### **Article 23. LIFE INSURANCE**

The Employer shall provide life insurance benefits to all bargaining unit Employees equal to the life insurance benefits provided to non-bargaining unit Employees. Any positive changes in the life insurance benefits provided to non-bargaining unit Employees shall be applicable to all bargaining unit Employees. If the Employer agrees to an increase in life insurance benefits in negotiations with another bargaining unit or if an improvement in benefits results from fact-finding or conciliation, the improvement in benefits shall be extended to this bargaining unit.

#### Article 24. PERSONAL LIABILITY INSURANCE

**SECTION 1.** The County will indemnify all Employees of this bargaining unit pursuant to applicable State law.

#### **Article 25. RETIREMENT**

**SECTION 1.** Upon retirement, an Employee with ten (10) or more years of service may receive cash payments for thirty percent (30%) of the value of the accrued but unused sick leave balance, not to exceed two hundred forty (240) hours.

**SECTION 2.** The Employer's retirement plan shall be governed by the Ohio Public Employees Retirement System. The Employer agrees to continue a salary pickup plan pursuant to the PERS rules and regulations.

**SECTION 3.** When employment is terminated, the Employee shall receive full compensation for accrued vacation, holiday, and compensatory time.

#### SECTION IV. TERMS & CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT

#### Article 26. SENIORITY

**SECTION 1.** Seniority shall be defined as an Employee's uninterrupted length of continuous service with the Protective Services Officers' bargaining unit. Seniority shall be

calculated from the Employee's initial date of hire. An Employee promoted to a position outside of the bargaining unit who is later deprived of that position and is returned to regular work within the bargaining unit shall have his/her name immediately restored to the bargaining unit seniority list with all seniority held at the time of promotion, but not accumulated.

In the event that more than one Employee has the same date of hire, seniority will be determined by alphabetical listing of their last name with "A" being the highest and "Z" being the lowest in seniority on the initial date of hire. Employees' placement on the seniority list by last name shall be determined as of the date of transfer of this bargaining unit to the Sheriff's Office in March, 2010 and shall remain unchanged throughout the duration of employment.

**SECTION 2.** An approved leave of absence does not constitute a break in continuous service provided the Employee follows the procedure for such leave and returns to active service immediately following the expiration of the approved leave except as otherwise provided.

**SECTION 3.** An Employee shall lose his/her seniority when the Employee:

- 1. resigns or retire, or
- 2. is discharged for just cause; or
- 3. is absent from scheduled work for at least three (3) consecutive work days without a valid excuse; or
- 4. fails to return to work within fourteen (14) calendar days after the initial date of receipt of certified mailing of a recall notice after layoff;
- 5. fails to apply for reinstatement within 30 calendar days of discontinuation of PERS disability retirement benefits.

**SECTION 4.** Employees shall continue accrual of seniority while on Employer-approved disability separation not to exceed two (2) years and for other reasons specifically stated in the contract provision herein.

**SECTION 5.** To ensure the continued enforcement of this Agreement, the processing of grievances and the renegotiation of successor contracts, OPBA Directors will have superseniority in the event of layoffs.

#### Article 27. SHIFT/DAYS OFF AND SECURITY POST ASSIGNMENTS

**SECTION 1.** The Employer shall promulgate a list of all security posts to which Employees may be assigned. In addition, the Employer shall promulgate a list of all security posts exempt from the selection process. The list shall include all posts currently referred to as "Floaters". The master list shall include all of the following: the location of each security post, hours of work for each security post, and days off associated with each security post.

**SECTION 2.** Employees may select all security posts based on seniority, except those designated exempt in this article. Employer assignment of exempt security posts, hours of work

and days off shall be based upon experience, active disciplinary record and pending discipline (except for verbal warnings that are not grievable pursuant to Article 33, Section 6), training, and personal appearance. If all the above criteria are equal, seniority shall be the governing factor. For exempt posts, client requests shall be given special consideration. The selection shall occur at 1642 Lakeside Avenue, Cleveland, OH, or any other mutually-agreeable location.

**SECTION 3.** The following posts are designated as "Exempt" posts and are not available for bidding as defined in this article:

Inspections
Jail Access Security
Patrol
Physical Security
Training

**SECTION 4.** Employees in the bargaining unit will be given an appointment time, by seniority, to sign up for their specific shift, days off, and post. As appointments are scheduled by seniority, some Employees may be required to come in on their off-duty time to sign up for their selection.

- **SECTION 5.** A union representative, designated by the O.P.B.A., shall be present during the selection process.
- **SECTION 6.** The Employer has the responsibility to notify Employees on approved leaves or leaves of absence of imminent shift, days off, and post selections. The Employer will inform said Employees of their appointment time and date of selection.
- SECTION 7. Employees who are unable to make their appointment may call the number pre-designated by O.P.B.A., during their appointment time, and communicate their selection to the O.P.B.A. representative monitoring the selection process. The O.P.B.A. representative monitoring the selection process shall be the only person authorized to sign another employee's name to the Master List.
- **SECTION 8.** An Employee who fails to make their appointment or contact the O.P.B.A. representative shall be assigned at the discretion of the Employer after the selection process is complete.
- **SECTION 9.** The selection process shall occur at least one time annually at a date to be determined by the Employer.
- **SECTION 10.** Newly created posts and vacancies (except for exempt posts) shall be offered to "floaters" and then "multi-post floaters" based on seniority. Floater assignments consisting of more than one full pay period at the same post shall be offered to floaters by seniority. "New Hires" shall be assigned as floaters.

SECTION 11. The Employer may, during an emergency situation or at the request of a client, make a temporary post change not to exceed ten (10) work days. The Employer agrees to inform the O.P.B.A. business agent/attorney and Senior Director as soon as possible, but not later than five (5) calendar days after a temporary post change is made. The Employer further agrees to inform the O.P.B.A. business agent/attorney and Senior Director in writing of the situation or nature of the complaint necessitating the post change. After ten (10) work days, the Employee shall be returned to their post unless the temporary assignment is to be made permanent. If the temporary assignment is to be made permanent, the Union may request that the Employer provide the Employee with the opportunity to participate in a meeting with the Protective Services Manager and/or their designee and Senior Director of the Union and/or the Senior Director's designee. Unless otherwise agreed by the Union, the meeting shall be held within fifteen (15) calendar days of the Union's written request. If the temporary assignment is to be made permanent, the O.P.B.A. business agent/attorney and Senior Director shall be notified in writing and the Employee may select another post/shift from among non-exempt posts/shifts that are vacant. The Employee may apply for exempt posts/shifts that are vacant. If the post change is made permanent following the meeting the Union may file a grievance at Step 2.

STEP 12. When the Employer determines to eliminate a post, the Employer shall notify the Union at least fourteen (14) calendar days in advance of the effective date of the post elimination, or as soon as practicable if the Employer receives less than fourteen (14) calendar days' notice. Employees whose posts are eliminated may select another post/shift from among the non-exempt posts/shifts that are vacant. The Employee may apply for exempt posts/shifts that are vacant.

#### **Article 28. POST ORDERS**

**SECTION 1.** The Employer shall provide written guidelines and instructions for each position where an Employee may be assigned. Said post orders shall be evaluated as necessary.

**SECTION 2.** It shall be the responsibility of the Employee to read and be guided by any post order pertaining to a position to which he/she is assigned. If the Employee has any questions, he/she shall convey them immediately to the appropriate on duty Sergeant.

#### Article 29. HEALTH & SAFETY

**SECTION 1.** The Employer agrees to maintain safe working facilities, vehicles, tools and equipment.

**SECTION 2.** The Employer shall maintain suitable first aid equipment at all posts.

**SECTION 3.** Complaints involving unsafe equipment and/or conditions should be reported by the Employee to an immediate supervisor. If the unsafe equipment or conditions are

not corrected, the Employee and/or the Union may process a complaint directly to Step 2 of the Grievance Procedure.

**SECTION 4.** All parking lot shanties shall be furnished with heaters and air conditioning.

SECTION 5. Ongoing issues of operational safety and security including training for bargaining unit employees on such topics of use of force, use of force continuum, self-defense and related matters shall be an appropriate topic of discussion for Labor Management Committee meetings. The Employer does not relinquish its right to require training of bargaining unit employees at any time.

#### **SECTION 6. Random Drug / Alcohol Testing:**

Employees are subject to "random" drug and alcohol testing at the following percentage:

Employees will be subject to a random test at a rate of ten percent (10%) per annum out of the pool of all bargaining unit Employees. The County will contract with an independent third party to provide random selection services through the use of a computerized random number generation program at the percentage discussed above.

As the purpose of "random" testing is to proactively keep Employees and citizens safe from the effects of drugs and alcohol in the workplace, all "random" testing of Employees will be for illegal drugs, alcohol, and/or chemical or harmful intoxicants. In an effort to ensure the accuracy, confidentiality and trustworthiness of the process, the following methodologies will be required for "random" drug and alcohol testing:

#### a. Medical Review Officer:

i. The Medical Review Officer (MRO) must be a licensed physician in the State of Ohio. The MRO may not have any business relationship with the laboratory used for testing that causes a conflict of interest or the appearance of a conflict of interest as defined under D.O.T. guidelines.

#### b. Sample Collection:

- i. The collection of samples shall be performed only by health care professionals who are qualified and authorized to do such collections and meet current D.O.T. collection standards and certification requirements, operating under the direction of the MRO.
- ii. The collection site will operate using non-federal testing that follows the federal model. A sufficient sample will be collected in all cases to provide for split specimen testing.
- iii. The collection site will begin the chain of custody of all samples submitted using the federal model, identifying each specimen through use of an identifying number only with no other Employee information. Identities of each Employee will be kept in the custody of MRO/collection site.

#### c. Alcohol Testing:

- i. Preliminary alcohol testing will be by a certified technician as provided for above, using an Evidentiary Breath Testing Instrument.
- ii. A preliminary test result of .04 grams per 210 liters of breath will be considered positive. Preliminary test results that are below .04 shall result in the discontinuation of testing.
- iii. Test results that are positive shall result in an immediate confirmatory test being run. The confirmatory test shall be a second breath alcohol content test unless the Employee requests a blood alcohol content test. A confirmatory test result of .04 grams per 100 ml of blood and/or .04 grams per 210 liters of breath will be considered a positive test result and reported to the MRO.

#### d. Laboratory Procedures

- i. The laboratory utilized for blood and urine testing shall be designated by the County.
- ii. Strict chain of custody procedures must be followed for all samples as set by NIDA. A split sample shall be reserved in all cases for an independent analysis in the event of a positive test result. All samples must be stored in a scientifically acceptable preservation manner as established by NIDA.
- iii. All positive confirmed samples and related paperwork must be retained by the laboratory for at least one year or for the duration of any grievance, disciplinary action or legal proceedings regarding the sample, whichever is longer. At the conclusion of said period, the sample is to be destroyed along with laboratory maintained paperwork.
- iv. The laboratory is authorized to test only for the following drugs or classes of drugs: marijuana metabolites, cocaine metabolites, opiate metabolites, Phencyclidine and amphetamines. The laboratory shall test only for these substances within the limits of initial and confirmation tests as currently defined by HHS/SAMHSA. Initial testing will consist of a preliminary immunoassay (EMIT Screen). If initial testing results are negative, testing shall be discontinued.
- v. Under this Agreement, the following cutoff levels shall be used in determining test results as positive or negative.

Drug Class	Prelim. Cutoff	Confirm. Cutoff	
Marijuana metabolites	100 ng/ml	15 ng/ml	
Cocaine metabolites	300 ng/ml	150 ng/ml	
Opiate metabolites	2,000 ng/ml	2,000 ng/ml	
Phencyclidine	25 ng/ml	25 ng/ml	
Amphetamines	1,000 ng/ml	500 /ml	

vi. All initial and confirmatory testing shall be performed at a certified laboratory and not at any individual collection site.

vii. The laboratory will report to the MRO. Upon receipt of an initial positive test, the MRO shall investigate whether there are other alternative medical explanations. The MRO shall contact the Employee to request a valid prescription or other lawful authorization to use such substance, or to determine whether some other reasonable alternative medical explanation exists. Employees shall have 10 business days to submit such information to the MRO after being contacted. The MRO shall only report a positive result to the County in the case where both the preliminary and confirmatory test results are positive as to the same sample and the MRO's independent investigation provides no reasonable alternative medical explanation.

viii. In the event that tests are altered, invalid, diluted positive or positive test results, upon request to the MRO, each covered Employee will be provided with a report of the confirmed positive results of each test that includes the types of tests conducted, the results of each test, the detection level used by the laboratory and any other information provided to the County by the laboratory.

#### e. Change in Testing Procedures:

- i. The parties recognize that during the life of this agreement, there may be improvements in the technology of testing procedures providing for more accurate testing. In that event, the parties agree to meet and discuss whether this Article should be amended to include such testing procedures in lieu of the procedures set forth in this Article.
- ii. If the MRO has reported that the results of an Employee's random test are positive, the Employee may be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including removal. This section does not apply to those Employees who have independently sought treatment through any Employer's Employee Assistance Plan or private treatment/medical practitioner prior to notification of the random test. In those cases only, discipline is deferred and the Employee will be subject to proof of fitness for duty and proof of completion of affiliated treatment plans. Employees who are not fit for duty will be reviewed for separation from service, Employees who do not provide proof of completion of affiliated treatment plans may be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including removal.
- iii. Any second failed random test will result in disciplinary action, up to and including removal.

#### Article 30. SHOOTING INCIDENTS

**SECTION 1.** Stress leave is defined as the use of up to five (5) days off, scheduled at the Employer's option, in conjunction with an on-duty critical incident in which the Employee is one of the direct primary participants (e.g. shooting, stabbing, assault, etc.). These days off will

not be charged against any accrued time category. In exercising its option, the Employer shall not unreasonably deny he use of this leave.

SECTION 2. Employees authorized to use stress leave shall be subject to a mandatory referral to an employee assistance program that is designated by the Employer, e.g. Moore Counseling or other Employer-approved entity, which entity shall only confirm the Employee's attendance. All other information between the Employee and the assistance program entity shall remain confidential.

#### **Article 31. FACIAL HAIR**

Restrictions and exemptions relative to facial hair shall be governed by the provisions in the Rules and Regulations Manual for Protective Services.

#### **Article 32. EMPLOYEE RIGHTS AND DISCIPLINE**

- **SECTION 1.** For the purpose of determining the severity of discipline being imposed on a current charge, the Employer shall not take into account any prior disciplinary action that occurred more than two (2) years prior to the date that the current offense occurred. Except in emergency situations, the Employer shall issue discipline within thirty (30) working days of the date of the pre-disciplinary conference.
- SECTION 2. An Employee shall be given a copy of any warning, reprimand, or other written disciplinary action that is entered into his/her personnel record along with the reasons for the discipline within five (5) working days of the action taken. Further, the Union's business agent/attorney and Senior Director shall be given a copy of any written discipline notice within ten (10) working days of the action.
- **SECTION 3.** Any unpaid suspension shall be for a specific number of days on which the Employee shall be regularly scheduled to work. Holidays occurring during a period of suspension shall be counted as workdays for purposes of the suspension only.
- **SECTION 4.** Discipline must be applied in an objective, equitable, and reasonable manner and shall be progressive, corrective, and never punitive. However, depending on the severity of the situation, the Employer may skip one or more of the steps in the disciplinary process. No Employee shall be disciplined except for just cause.
- SECTION 5. No Employee shall be suspended without pay or terminated without first given the opportunity to participate in a Pre-Disciplinary Conference (PDC). The Employee and the Union business representative/attorney shall receive notification in writing at least three (3) days prior to the conference. Such notification shall include the date of the conference, the time of the conference, the location of the conference, the nature of the offense and the rights of Union representation.

- **SECTION 6.** All discipline shall be subject to the grievance procedure, except verbal warnings, which shall not be grievable.
- SECTION 7. Before an Employee may be charged with any violation of the Standard Schedule of Disciplinary Offenses, any successor discipline policy or the Rules and Regulations for Protective Services for a refusal to answer questions or participate in an investigation, the Employee shall be advised that such refusal to answer questions or participate in such investigation will be the basis of such a charge.
- SECTION 8. Questioning or interviewing of an Employee in the course of an internal investigation will be conducted at hours reasonably related to the Employee's shift, unless operational standards require otherwise. Investigation sessions shall be for reasonable periods of time and time shall be provided for rest periods and attendance to physical necessities. No session may be taped unless both parties are informed of such an audio recording.
- **SECTION 9.** An Employee that is the subject of an investigation has the right to the presence and advice of an OPBA representative and one (1) Director at all disciplinary investigations or hearings. If an Employee is a witness and not under investigation, the Employee shall be advised of this fact.
- **SECTION 10.** An Employee may review his/her personnel file and request one (1) copy of the items included in the personnel file, which shall be provided at no cost. Additional copies shall be provided at the same cost as the public pays for such copies of public records.
- **SECTION 11.** All complaints which involve suspension or discharge of any Employee shall be in writing.
- SECTION 12. Pre-disciplinary conferences shall be conducted by a neutral management representative. The Employer shall elect the neutral management representative. At the pre-disciplinary conference, the Employee shall have the right to be represented by the Union. The Employee shall be afforded the opportunity to offer an explanation of any alleged misconduct, to call witnesses and to offer documentary evidence relevant to the charge. At the hearing, the Employee is entitled to a copy of any evidence relevant to the discipline.
- **SECTION 13.** Any investigations and adjudication of discipline shall not be performed by bargaining unit Employees.
- **SECTION 14.** No allegation of misconduct shall be placed in an Employee's official personnel file except through the discipline process as outlined in this Article.

#### Article 33. GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

- **SECTION 1.** The term "grievance" shall mean a written allegation by a Bargaining Unit member that there has been a breach of this Agreement.
- SECTION 2. A grievance may be brought by the Union or an Employee covered by this Agreement. A grievance which affects a group of Employees arising from the same event and/or set of facts shall be known as a "Policy Grievance". A policy grievance may be filed at Step 2 of the Grievance Procedure by any Union Director.
- **SECTION 3.** An Employee wishing to submit a formal grievance shall reduce the grievance to writing. All grievances must contain the following information:
  - 1. Aggrieved Employee's name and signature;
  - 2. Aggrieved Employee's classification and department;
  - 3. Date of the event leading to the grievance;
  - 4. A description of the incident giving rise to the grievance;
  - 5. Date the grievance was filed in writing in each step;
  - 6. Specific articles of the contract violated;
  - 7. Desired remedy to resolve the grievance;
  - 8. Signature of the OPBA representative filing the grievance.
- **SECTION 4.** Any grievance not answered by the Employer within the stipulated time limits shall be considered to have been answered in the negative and automatically advance to the next step of the grievance procedure. Any Employee may withdraw a grievance, with the approval of the Union, at any point by submitting in writing a statement to that effect.
- **SECTION 5.** The time limits set forth in the Grievance Procedure may be extended by mutual agreement of the Employer and the Union. "Working days" as used herein shall not include Saturdays, Sundays, or Holidays.
- SECTION 6. Grievances involving terminations or suspensions may be initiated by the Union at Step 3 of the grievance procedure and thereafter shall be processed in accordance with the grievance mechanism as provided in this Article. Other grievances may be filed at an advanced step by written agreement between the Union and the Employer.
- SECTION 7. Where the alleged grievances is of a nature that qualifies for a charge under EEOC or OCRC, the aggrieved Employee may, in addition to filing a grievance, file a charge in accordance with the rules of that body. Prior to the filing of the charge, the Employer, the Employee, and their representatives may meet in an effort to resolve the matter.
- **SECTION 8.** Probationary Employees may not file grievances or participate in any manner until the completion of their probationary period.

**SECTION 9.** A grievance as defined by this contract shall be processed in the following manner.

#### Step 1. Protective Services Sergeant

The aggrieved Employee, with a Union Director present, shall discuss the grievance orally with the Employee's immediate supervisor within seven (7) working days of the occurrence that gave rise to the grievance. Step 1 discussions may take place over the telephone if all parties are available to participate. Step 1 discussions must be identified in advance by the Union as such. The immediate supervisor shall respond in writing to the grievance within five (5) working days following the date the grievance was presented.

# Step 2. Manager of Security and/or Deputy Sheriff Captain and/or Lieutenant and/or Designee

If the grievance is not resolved in Step 1, the Employee, with the Union Director, shall refer the grievance in writing to the Manager of Security within ten (10) working days after receiving the Step 1 reply. The Manager of Security or their designee shall have ten (10) working days in which to schedule a meeting with the aggrieved Employee and the Union Representative. The Manager of Security or designee shall investigate and respond in writing to the grievant and the Union representative within five (5) working days following the meeting.

#### Step 3. Department of Human Resources

If the grievance is not resolved at Step 2, the Employee, with the Union Director, shall refer the grievance in writing to the Department of Human Resources within ten (10) working days after receiving the Step 2 reply. Upon receipt of the written grievance which has been processed through both Step 1 and Step 2 of this procedure, the designee of the Department of Human Resources shall schedule a formal meeting within seven (7) working days between the aggrieved Employee, the Union Representative, a Union Director and the designee. Prior to this meeting taking place, the designee shall investigate the allegation(s) contained in the grievance. The designee shall provide the aggrieved. Employee and the Union Representative with a written response to the grievance within ten (10) working days after the above meeting.

#### Step 4. Arbitration - County Department of Law

If the grievance is unresolved at Step 3, the Union may advance it to arbitration by submitting a written Notice of Appeal to Arbitration to the County Department of Law within thirty (30) calendar days following the date the Union received the Employer's Step 3 response. In the event the grievance is not referred to arbitration within such time limit, the grievance shall be considered resolved based upon the Employer's Step 3 response.

SECTION 10. Within thirty (30) days after a timely request for arbitration is submitted, the Union shall request a list of arbitrators from the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service, the Ohio State Employment Relations Board (S.E.R.B.), or any other mutually-agreed labor arbitration service which shall contain the names of at least seven (7) arbitrators. Failure to make a timely request for the list of arbitrators shall constitute a resolution of the grievance based upon the Employer's Step 3 response.

Within thirty (30) calendar days after receiving such list, the representatives of the parties (Union and County Department of Law) shall proceed to select an arbitrator using the strike-off method, if necessary, unless either party finds all of the arbitrators unacceptable. If either party finds all the arbitrators unacceptable, a second list shall be requested and both parties shall be required to strike-off from this list until an arbitrator is selected. The Union shall strike the first name; in subsequent instances the Employer and the Union shall alternate striking the first name from such panels. The arbitrator so selected shall be advised of their selection within five (5) working days after the selection is made and requested to provide available dates for hearing.

In no event shall the date of the hearing be sooner than thirty (30) days from the date of selection, unless waived by the parties. The decision of the arbitrator shall be final and binding upon both parties and Employee(s) involved. The arbitrator shall not have the power to add to or subtract from or modify any of the terms of this Agreement, or any Agreement made supplementary thereto. Arbitrators shall limit their decisions strictly to interpretation, application, or enforcement of the specific articles and selections of this contract, and they shall be without power or authority to make any decision.

- 1. Contrary to or inconsistent with or modifying or varying in any way the terms of this contract.
- 2. Adding to detracting from, or altering in any way provisions of this contract.

The written decision of the Arbitrator resulting from any arbitration of grievances hereunder shall be final and binding upon the parties and implemented within six (6) weeks from the date of issue or from the date that the moving party provides the necessary information to implement the decision.

The fees and expenses of the arbitrator shall be borne by the loser. Furthermore, the aggrieved Employees, Union Director, and any necessary witness shall not lose any regular straight time pay for the time off the job while attending any arbitration proceedings.

#### **Article 34. HIRING**

**SECTION 1.** Employees shall be hired in accordance with applicable policies and procedures of Cuyahoga County, the Charter of Cuyahoga County and the Personnel Review Commission (PRC).

#### **Article 35. NON-USE OF EMPLOYEE VEHICLE**

**SECTION 1.** The Employer shall not anticipate nor direct the Employee to use the Employee's vehicle for any working purposes whatsoever.

**SECTION 2.** Employees shall be required to have and to hold a valid Ohio Driver's License. This requirement does not apply to Employees hired before January 1, 1999.

#### **Article 36. PARKING**

Parking for all Employees who work second and third shift shall be free at all Employer lots and garages. First shift Employees shall pay the cost at designated lots consistent with past practice. In the event the County implements a County-wide parking policy during this Agreement, the parties may file to reopen this article.

#### **Article 37. TEMPORARY POST CLOSINGS**

**SECTION 1.** If a post to which an Employee is assigned closes for the day, the Employer may reassign the Employee to another post or allow him/her to use accumulated vacation or compensatory time for the balance of the workday. The Employer guarantees the Employee a forty (40) hour workweek regardless of closings at any particular post.

#### Article 38. OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT

**SECTION 1.** Employees shall apply to the Employer and obtain the Employer's written permission prior to engaging in employment outside the Sheriff's Department. The granting or denial of such requests shall be governed by the following criteria:

- a) The outside employment may not be such as would in any manner adversely affect or interfere with the Employee's performance of duties for the Sheriff's Department.
- b) The outside employment may not create an actual conflict of interest or the appearance of a conflict of interest with the operations of the Sheriff's Department.
- c) The outside employment may not be such as would create an appearance of impropriety.

- d) The outside employment may not be at a place of business where any principal or officer of the business or the business itself has been convicted of or is under investigation for serious criminal conduct.
- e) The outside employment may not involve more than thirty (30) hours of work per week.
- f) Employees seeking outside employment shall provide the Employer with evidence that liability insurance satisfactory to the Employer or a hold harmless agreement satisfactory to the Employer has been secured which shall hold the Employer, Cuyahoga County and their representatives, harmless from any actions or inactions arising out of the Employee's outside employment.
- g) Upon request, an Employee shall be provided a written explanation for denial and/or rescission of outside employment authorization unless otherwise precluded by law.

SECTION 2. Requests shall be approved by the Employer prior to the commencement of outside employment and such applications shall be renewed annually thereafter. Requests for approval will be acted upon by the Employer as soon as is practicable. The Employer shall have the right to rescind previously granted permission for outside employment upon a change of circumstances and in accordance with the criteria set forth above in this Article. In view of the nature of the duties and responsibilities of Employees and the liability which may flow from their actions or inactions, the parties agree that neither the Employer's denial of a request for outside employment nor the Employer's rescission of previously granted permission for such employment shall be subject to the grievance procedure. An employee may, however, file a request for reconsideration with the Sheriff.

**SECTION 3.** Employees who have utilized sick leave for illness or injury reasons are prohibited from engaging in outside employment until they have returned to duty with the Employer.

#### Article 39. LAYOFF AND RECALL

SECTION 1. When the Employer determines that a layoff or job abolishment is necessary, the Employer shall notify the affected Employee(s) and the Union at least twenty-one (21) days in advance of the effective date of such layoff. If the Union requests, the parties shall meet to discuss the Employer's action. Employee whose jobs are abolished shall have the same rights as an Employee involved in a layoff action who is on layoff due to reasons other than job abolishment.

**SECTION 2.** The Employer shall determine when a layoff will occur. Affected Employees will be laid off in accordance with their established seniority. Bargaining Unit Employee(s) with the least seniority will be laid off first, in the following order:

- 1. Temporary Employees;
- 2. Part-time Employees;
- 3. New hires who have not completed their probationary period;
- 4. Employees who have completed their probationary period.

In the event that more than one Employee has the same date of hire, seniority will be determined by alphabetical listing of their last name, with "A" being the highest and "Z" being the lowest in seniority on the initial date of hire, and shall remain unchanged throughout the duration of employment.

SECTION 3. Employees who are laid off shall be placed on a recall list for a period of eighteen (18) months. If there is a recall, Employees who are still on the recall list shall be recalled in the inverse order of their layoff. Seniority will terminate after eighteen (18) months, however.

**SECTION 4.** Notice of recall shall be sent to the Employee by certified mail. The Employer shall be deemed to have fulfilled its obligations by mailing the recall notice by certified mail with a copy of such notice to be sent to the Union, return receipt requested, to the last mailing address provided by the Employee.

SECTION 5. The recalled Employee shall have fourteen (14) calendar days following the date of the receipt of the recall notice, as received by the Union or Employee, to notify the Employer of his/her intention to return to work. The Employee shall have three (3) additional days to report for duty unless a later date for returning to work is otherwise specified in the notice.

#### SECTION V. LEAVES

#### Article 40. SICK LEAVE

**SECTION 1.** Employees shall earn sick leave credit at the rate of four and sixth tenths (4.6) hours for each eighty (80) hours of completed service. Sick leave credit shall be prorated to the hours of completed service in each pay period. Unused sick leave may be carried forward from one calendar year to the next without a maximum.

SECTION 2. An Employee who is unable to report for work and who is not on a previously approved absence shall be responsible for notifying the Employer at least two (2) hours prior to the Employee's scheduled work assignment, unless emergency conditions prevent such notification. In the event of an anticipated extended absence in excess of three (3) consecutive work days, the Employee shall notify the Human Resources department of the absence and the estimated duration of same as soon as possible.

**SECTION 3.** With the approval of the Employer, sick leave may be used by the Employee for the following reasons:

- 1. Illness, injury, pregnancy related condition of the Employee or member of the Employee's immediate family where the Employee's presence is reasonably necessary for the health and welfare of the Employees or affected family member.
- 2. Examination or treatment of the Employee or member of his/her immediate family where the Employee's presence is reasonably necessary including medical, psychological, dental, or optical examination by an appropriate practitioner.
- 3. For purposes of this article, definition of "immediate family" shall be Employee's parents, spouse, children; Employee's siblings; spouse's siblings; natural grandparents; and spouse's parents, and any child for which the Employee stands "in loco parentis".

**SECTION 4.** The Employee shall submit a signed, written statement to the Employer for the request and justification of sick leave through the County's web based timekeeping system (currently MyHR) within eight (8) hours following the return to work. Falsification of either the signed statement or a physician's certificate or application for use of sick leave with the intent to defraud shall be grounds for disciplinary action.

In the event of an absence from work on sick leave exceeding three (3) consecutive work days, the Employee shall provide a physician's statement upon return to work specifying the Employee's ability to return to work without restrictions. If such absence was due to the illness or injury of an immediate family member, the physician's statement shall indicate that the family member was under a physician's care and that the Employee's presence was reasonably necessary for the health and welfare of the family member.

SECTION 5. An Employee who engages in the pattern use of sick leave shall be warned by the Employer. A pattern use/abuse of sick leave includes those examples set forth in the Personnel Policies and Procedures Manual of the Cuyahoga County Department of Human Resources. If the Employee continues to engage in such conduct, the Employee may be required to submit medical documentation for the future use of sick leave.

**SECTION 6.** Except as otherwise provided for in this Agreement, the Employer may not deduct sick leave from an Employee's accrual without the Employee's consent.

**SECTION 7.** Any Employee who uses no sick time, and has no "attendance violations", as defined below, for the January – June period or the July – December period will be permitted, upon the Employee's request, to convert five (5) sick days to five (5) vacation days. For purposes of this Section, "attendance violations" are (a) more than three (3) "tardies" in the sixmonth period; (b) any Standard Schedule of Disciplinary Offenses Rule No. 11 "failure to punch

time clock" disciplinary violation; or (c) any accumulation of A.W.O.L., as defined in the Standard Schedule of Disciplinary Offenses, in the six-month period. Such conversion may only occur twice in a twelve (12) month period.

#### **Article 41. SICK LEAVE DONATION PROGRAM**

**SECTION 1.** The intent of the Sick Leave Donation Program is to allow bargaining unit Employees to voluntarily provide assistance to co-workers in the bargaining unit who are in critical need of medical leave due to an extended injury or illness.

**SECTION 2.** A bargaining unit Employee may receive donated sick leave, provided that the done Employee has:

- a) a serious medical condition as defined under the Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA) that would require the Employee to be taken away from work for more than ten (10) consecutive working days. Employees with intermittent absences (less than 10 consecutive days) do not qualify for leave donation.
- b) exhausted all accrued leave, including sick time, vacation time, compensatory time, and workers compensation benefits;
- c) submitted documentation from a physician verifying the medical condition and duration;
- d) submitted a fully-executed FMLA Dept. of Labor Form WH-380;
- e) given written permission to inform the Employee's fellow bargaining unit members of the need for donated leave.

The maximum amount of donated leave that a donee Employee may receive is three hundred (300) hours.

**SECTION 3.** A bargaining unit member may donate sick leave, provided that the donor Employee:

- a) Voluntarily elects to donate the leave and does so with the understanding that the donated leave time will not be returned;
- b) Donates a minimum of one (1) hour. Donations must be in full hour increments:
- c) Retains a minimum of eighty (80) hours of accrued sick leave at the time of donation;
- d) Completes a leave donation form identifying the recipient Employee, the number of hours being donated and certifying that the leave donated is voluntary.

SECTION 4. Written notification of the need for donated leave shall be made by the Employee or a union director to the designee of the Department of Human Resources. A notice will then be posted for ten (10) calendar days informing Employees of this unit about the request

for sick leave donations. No donations will be accepted after that ten (10) day posting period. The Employer will not solicit leave donations from Employees; the Union and/or bargaining unit members will be responsible for solicitation of donations and completion of the necessary documentation. The donation of sick leave time will occur strictly on a voluntary basis. No Employee can be forced or coerced to donate. Any Employee who feels they are being pressured to donate should contact the designee of the Department of Human Resources.

#### Article 42. FITNESS-FOR-DUTY EXAMINATION/SUBSTANCE ABUSE

**SECTION 1.** The Employer and the Union agree that the Employer has a responsibility to provide its Employees, its clients, and the public with the safest possible work conditions. Therefore, where there is reasonable cause to believe that an individual Employee is using soliciting, or is under the influence of drugs or alcohol at work, such Employee will be directed to report to an Employee designated physician or medical clinic for a fitness for duty examination.

**SECTION 2.** The exam will be performed on Employer time and at Employer expense and will involve appropriate testing, including possible urine or blood tests or breathalyzer exam determined by the appropriate medical personnel.

SECTION 3. An Employee may be referred for such fitness for duty screening if at least one (1) supervisor has a reasonable suspicion that the Employee is then under the influence of alcohol or a controlled substance. Such a determination is to be made based only upon specific, objective facts and reasonable inferences drawn from those facts in the light of experience, that the Employee is then under the influence of drugs or alcohol so as to endanger fellow Employees, the public, or otherwise adversely impact on the Employee's ability to perform his/her job duties.

**SECTION 4.** When a supervisor determines that he/she has reasonable suspicion that an Employee is impaired, the supervisor shall proceed in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Cuyahoga County Department of Human Resources' Policies and Procedures Manual, established and amended by ordinance of Cuyahoga County Council.

**SECTION 5.** An Employee may also be referred for mandatory urine, blood or breathalyzer tests to determine substance abuse under the following circumstances.

- (a) As part of a disciplinary probation for Employees who have previously violated the Employer's drug and alcohol rules;
- (b) For Employees returning from leaves of absence if they have given the Employer a reason to suspect possible illegal drug and/or alcohol abuse. Possible reasons to suspect Substance Abuse include, but are not limited to, a history of excessive absenteeism not related to a specific illness, documented evidence of deteriorating job performance or

documentation of aberrant behavior in instances where these reasons arose in the six (6) month period immediately preceding the leave of absence;

(c) An Employee involved in a motor vehicle accident while in the course and scope of employment and while operating a county vehicle.

SECTION 6. An Employee shall be entitled to the presence of a Union representative before testing is administered, provided one is immediately available. The Employer shall notify the O.P.B.A. Business Agent at a pre-designated telephone number when an incident occurs. The Employer shall set the time limit for the Union representative to arrive at the scene of the incident or the testing site.

SECTION 7. For urine samples submitted for drug testing, subject Employees will undergo an initial screen (EMIT) test. For any positive results, a confirmatory test employing the gas chromatography/mass spectrometry (GC/MS) test will be used. The Employer will ensure that there is a continuous chain of custody of any sample taken from an Employee. Specimen collection will occur in a medical setting and every precaution shall be taken to insure that the procedures shall not demean, embarrass, or cause physical discomfort to the Employee. The Employer will use DOT standards for determining a positive drug or alcohol test.

SECTION 8. The results of any drug and alcohol screening test will be kept strictly confidential. An Employee who tests positive for drugs and/or alcohol will have the opportunity to review the test results and; if desired, a reasonable opportunity to rebut the results. The Employer will use the DOT standards for determining a positive drug or alcohol test. Copies of any such evaluation shall be provided to the Employer and to the individual tested. Where urine or blood samples have been taken, the samples will be preserved for a reasonable period of time and such Employee will have the opportunity to have these samples retested at a reputable laboratory of his or her choosing.

SECTION 9. Employees who may be drug and alcohol dependent are encouraged to voluntarily seek professional assistance through a reputable treatment program. The Employer's Employee Assistance Program can provide counseling and referral. All records of an Employee seeking medical rehabilitation for drug or alcohol dependency, either through E.A.P. or otherwise, will be kept strictly confidential. Voluntary assistance should be sought before dependency affects job performance so as to endanger fellow Employees, the public or otherwise adversely impact the Employee's ability to perform his or her job duties.

SECTION 10. The E.A.P. program does not supplant or alter the normal discipline and grievance procedure. An Employee subject to disciplinary charges which include substance abuse on the job will be given access to the drug and alcohol screening results and the ability to have the blood or urine sample privately tested at an independent laboratory, and the opportunity to rebut the allegation of substance abuse. Any disciplinary order issued to an Employee which includes allegations of substance abuse on the job shall list the basis upon which it was

determined that there was reasonable cause to believe the Employee was using drugs or was under the influence or drugs or alcohol at work.

**SECTION 11.** An Employee found to have positive screens for drugs and/or alcohol will be referred to and disciplined in accordance with the Fitness for Duty program as outlined in the Policies and Procedures Manual.

#### Article 43. FITNESS-FOR-DUTY EXAMINATION/OTHER

SECTION 1. If the Employer has reasonable suspicion to believe that an Employee is medically or psychologically unable to perform all of the duties of a Protective Service Officer for reasons other than set forth in the preceding article, the Employer may relieve the Employee from duty. The Employer shall place the Employee on paid administrative leave and pay the costs of a medical or psychological examination that is required by the Employer. An Employee found by the qualified medical professional selected by the Employer to be unable to perform their duties with or without reasonable accommodation shall be relieved of duty.

If an Employee has been found unfit to perform their duties, time off duty may be charged to any applicable sick, annual or compensatory time at the Employee's request or may be designated as FMLA leave at the Employer's initiative as permitted by law.

SECTION 2. An Employee relieved of duty under the preceding Section must be given medical clearance acceptable to the Employer by a qualified medical professional before being allowed to return to work. Such documentation must certify that the Employee is able to perform all of the duties of a Protective Services Officer (unless there is an A.D.A. issue that can be reasonably accommodated). If there is a disagreement between the respective qualified medical professionals, they shall select a third qualified medical professional by mutual agreement. The third examination shall be mutually paid for by the Employer and the Employee and shall be final and binding and not be subject to the grievance procedure.

#### Article 44. FAMILY & MEDICAL LEAVE ACT

**SECTION 1.** The Employer shall fully comply with all provisions of the federal Family and Medical Leave Act and have the right to administer F.M.L.A. leave to the full extent permitted by federal law, including, but not limited to, its coordination with any other leaves and other benefits.

#### **Article 45. VACATION LEAVE**

SECTION 1. Each full-time member of the bargaining unit, after service of one (1) year with the Employer, shall have earned, and will be due upon the attainment of the first year of employment and annually thereafter, eighty (80) hours of vacation leave with full pay. One year of service shall be computed on the basis of twenty-six (26) bi-weekly pay periods. Such

vacation leave shall accrue to the Employee at the rate of three and one-tenth (3.1) hours each biweekly period.

- **SECTION 2.** Each full-time member of the bargaining unit with five (5) or more years of service with the Employer shall have earned, and is entitled to, one hundred twenty (120) hours of vacation leave with full pay. Such vacation leave shall accrue to the Employee at the rate of four and six-tenths (4.6) hours each bi-weekly period.
- **SECTION 3.** Each full-time member of the bargaining unit with fifteen (15) or more years of service with the Employer shall have earned, and is entitled to, one hundred sixty (160) hours of vacation leave with full pay. Such vacation leave shall accrue to the Employee at the rate of six and two-tenths (6.2) hours each bi-weekly period.
- **SECTION 4.** Each full-time member of the bargaining unit with twenty- one (21) or more years of service with the Employer shall have earned, and is entitled to, two hundred (200) hours of vacation leave with full pay. Such vacation leave shall accrue to the Employee at the rate of seven and seven-tenths (7.7) hours each bi-weekly period.
- **SECTION 5.** Vacation leave shall be taken only at a time mutually agreed upon by the Employer. The Employee may cancel a scheduled vacation with two (2) months advance notice to the Employer or in the case of an Employee who provides documentation of an emergency that is acceptable to the Employer.
- **SECTION 6.** An Employee may accumulate and carry over his/her vacation leave to the following year, but no vacation leave may be carried over for more than three (3) years or it will be forfeited. Forty (40) hours of earned vacation leave will be added to the vacation accrual record of the Employee upon completion of five (5), fifteen (15) and twenty-five (25) full years of employment.

#### Article 46. INJURY/ILLNESS LEAVE/WAGE CONTINUATION

SECTION 1. Upon a determination by the Employer, the Employer may grant up to one hundred twenty (120) consecutive calendar days per illness/injury to an Employee who is unable to perform his/her job. Any Employee who suffers bodily injury or who contracts or becomes afflicted with a serious illness that renders the Employee unable to perform the essential job function as a result of an "on-duty critical incident" shall be paid his/her regular rate of pay during the period of the injury/illness leave. The injury/illness leave shall only be for the period the Employee is unable to perform his/her duties.

"On-duty critical incident" is defined as an injury/illness resulting from active duty as a Protective Services Officer exercising the powers of an enforcement officer, including but not limited to apprehension or attempted apprehension of suspects, active participation in the prevention of crimes, vehicular patrol duty, pursuit of suspects and vehicular transportation of inmates.

- **SECTION 2.** In order to be considered for injury leave a request for injury/illness leave must be made within forty-eight (48) hours after the Employee knew or reasonably should have known of the work-related injury illness. If the forty-eight hours expires on a weekend or holiday, the Employee must request leave on the next business day after the weekend or holiday.
- **SECTION 3.** At the Employer's discretion, the Employee shall be subject to examination by a physician of the Employer's choice in order to confirm eligibility. The cost of the examination shall be borne by the Employer.
- **SECTION 4.** Pay made according to this article shall not be charged to the Employee's accumulation of sick leave. If injury/illness leave is approved and the Employee used sick or vacation time to cover the approved period, the time shall be restored to the Employee's leave balance.
- **SECTION 5.** It is mutually agreed that an Employee is prohibited from engaging in or accepting secondary employment during the period of time in which the Employee is on injury leave.
- **SECTION 6.** Any Employee who is on injury leave subject to this article must apply for workers' compensation. Any Worker's Compensation temporary-total-benefits which are paid during the one hundred twenty (120) day injury/illness leave period shall be returned to the Employer.
- SECTION 7. Injury leave shall be paid at the Employee's straight rate for up to 40 hours per week and 80 hours per pay period. Employees on approved injury/illness leave shall be required to accept alternative work assignments that they are able to perform within physicians' restrictions. The Employer may require Employees on approved injury/illness leave to verify leave status every thirty (30) days or as otherwise deemed necessary.

#### Article 47. BEREAVEMENT LEAVE

- SECTION 1. Bereavement leave shall be provided in accordance with the County's Policies and Procedures Manual. If any changes are made to be eavement leave, the Parties shall meet to discuss whether be reavement leave shall be provided in accordance with the revised County's Policies and Procedures Manual or Sections 2, 3, and 4 of this Article.
- SECTION 2. All Employees covered by this Agreement shall be entitled to receive up to three (3) consecutive days of bereavement leave with pay, one of which must be used to attend the funeral, in the event of a death in the Employee's immediate family. These three (3) days of bereavement leave shall not be chargeable to the Employee's sick leave. Upon the Employee's

request, two (2) additional days of bereavement leave shall be granted by the Employer, which shall be charged against the Employee's accumulated paid sick leave.

SECTION 3. "Immediate family" shall be defined as the Employee's parents (natural, step, or foster); spouse; children; Employee's siblings; spouse's siblings; natural grandparents; and spouse's parents, or any individual for which the Employee stands "in loco parentis".

**SECTION 4.** Leave for deaths other than those specified above may be granted by the Employer and may either be deducted from accrued vacation time, accrued compensatory or exchange time, or without pay. Such leaves shall be for a period of not more than one (1) day to attend the funeral if within the State of Ohio or two (2) days when the funeral is outside the State of Ohio. Any additional time off requested by the Employee is subject to the approval of the Employer.

#### Article 48. JURY DUTY/COURT LEAVE

**SECTION 1.** Employees called for jury duty shall be granted a leave of absence for the period of jury service and will be compensated for the difference between their regular pay and the jury duty for work absences actually caused by the jury service. Employees shall submit the jury pay voucher to the Employer in exchange for their regular compensation.

**SECTION 2.** To be eligible for jury duty leave, the Employee must provide a copy of the jury notice or jury voucher to the Employer.

#### Article 49. PERSONAL COURT LEAVE

**SECTION 1.** An Employee who is party to a lawsuit or legal action concerning a non-work issue shall be granted time off without pay to attend the court proceedings. The Employee shall furnish to the Employer the court notice as proof of the scheduled court proceedings. The Employee may utilize accrued vacation or compensatory time to attend such court proceedings in accordance with the normal procedures, at the Employee's option.

#### **Article 50. MILITARY LEAVE**

**SECTION 1.** An Employee shall be granted an unpaid leave of absence for military leave in accordance with applicable Federal and state law.

SECTION 2. Bargaining unit Employees who are members of the Ohio National Guard, Ohio Defense Corps, Naval Militia, or other Reserve components of the Armed Forces of the United States, are entitled to a leave of absence from their respective duties without loss of pay for such time as they are in military service and field training or active duty for periods not to exceed thirty-one (31) days in any calendar year. The maximum number of hours for which payment can be made in any one calendar year is one hundred seventy-six (176) hours.

**SECTION 3.** A copy of the military orders or notice to report shall be submitted to the Employer prior to the effective date of orders.

#### **Article 51. LEAVE OF ABSENCE WITHOUT PAY**

SECTION 1. At the sole discretion of the Employer, a leave of absence without pay may be granted to an Employee who has completed his probationary period. Such leave is not to exceed six (6) months unless extend pursuant to Section 3 of this Article. Applications for such leave shall be made in writing at least fourteen (14) calendar days prior to the beginning of said leave, unless emergency conditions prevent such notice. The application shall state the reason(s) for requesting the leave of absence, any associated documentation, and the days for which the leave is being requested.

**SECTION 2.** If it is found that a leave is not actually being used for the purpose for which it was granted, the Employer shall terminate the Employee's employment.

SECTION 3. An Employee who fails to return to duty upon completion or cancellation of a leave of absence without pay, without written explanation which has been approved by the Employer, may be subject to disciplinary action. An Employee who fails to return service from a leave of absence without pay, and is subsequently removed from service, is deemed to have a termination date corresponding to the starting date of the leave of absence. An Employee who desires to request an extension of prior approved leave of absence shall submit a written application for extension of the leave no less than fourteen (14) calendar days prior to the expiration of the leave. The application is subject to review and approval by the Employer. Reasonable requests for extensions shall not be unreasonably denied.

**SECTION 4.** An Employee may be returned to active pay status prior to the originally scheduled expiration of the leave of absence if such earlier return is agreed to by the Employer.

**SECTION 5.** Upon return from a leave of absence without pay, the Employee shall be assigned to whatever position is available in the bargaining unit for which the Employee is qualified.

**SECTION 6.** If an Employee is unable to perform the essential functions of the Employee's job following the expiration of the six (6) months of medical leave of absence without pay, the Employee shall be placed on disability separation status and shall have reinstatement rights as governed by the Ohio Revised Code and Ohio Administrative Code. Donated sick leave and unpaid FMLA will count towards the six (6) month period.

#### SECTION VI. MISCELLANEOUS

#### **Article 52. SEVERABILITY**

It is the intent of the Employer and the Union that this contract comply in every respect with applicable legal statuses. If any article or part thereof is declared invalid or in conflict by a court of competent jurisdiction or any appropriate State administrative body, the article or part thereof shall be null and void, and shall not effect the validity of the remaining part of articles of this contract. In the event any article or part thereof is declared invalid or in conflict, the Employer and the Union shall meet within thirty (30) calendar days for the purpose of negotiating a lawful alternative provision.

#### **Article 53. MODIFICATION**

SECTION 1. This Agreement supersedes all other contracts, or understandings, written or unwritten, heretofore existing between the parties regarding wages, hours and terms and conditions of employment. No provision contained in this agreement shall be modified or altered unless approved by the Employer and the Union membership and signed by officers of the Union. Amendments and modifications of this agreement may be made by mutual written agreement of the parties to this contract.

#### **Article 54. REPRODUCTION OF AGREEMENT**

The Employer shall post the collective bargaining agreement on-line and bargaining unit Employees shall be given an opportunity to print a hard-copy.

#### **Article 55. PROMOTIONS**

SECTION 1. The Employer agrees that a request shall be made to the appropriate governmental agency, or some other private, independent testing entity, to conduct promotional examinations within the boundaries of Cuyahoga County. The Employer will maintain from such entity a current eligibility list for a period of two (2) years. No Employee with less than three (3) years of continuous, uninterrupted service with the Employer in the bargaining unit shall be eligible to sit for a promotional examination.

**SECTION 2.** The Employer shall appoint from the "rule of three" on the eligibility list, as established as a result of the examination.

**SECTION 3.** The Employer shall provide the Union with notification of all requirements, examination requests and schedules for promotional examinations at the time the request or schedule is made. The Employer shall provide a list of applicable references and make available study material used in connection with the examination where applicable or as determined by the testing entity.

SECTION 4. An employee promoted to a position outside of the bargaining unit who is later deprived of that position and is returned to regular work within the bargaining unit shall have his name immediately restored to the Department seniority list with all seniority held at the time of the promotion, but no accumulated. An Employee restored back into the bargaining unit cannot replace another Employee, but will be assigned to duties entitled by his/her classification. If seniority will not carry, the Employee shall be placed in accordance with the "Layoff and Recall" article of the current Agreement.

#### **Article 56. PAYROLL ERRORS**

In the event that an error regarding wages appears on an employee's pay warrant, the employee shall contact the Payroll Department immediately up discovery of the error for assistance. In the event of an underpayment of wages in excess of ten (10) hours, the employee shall notify the Payroll Department and a new payroll warrant will be issued no later than the close of the next business day of the County Fiscal Office.

In the event of an inadvertent wage overpayment, the employee shall be notified. Prior to recouping the overpayment, the Union will be notified, and the County shall meet and discuss the terms of repayment with the employee.

#### **Article 57. DURATION**

SECTION 1. This Agreement represents the complete understanding between the parties on all issues and shall become effective on the date of its ratification by the Cuyahoga County Council, and notwithstanding any other dates referenced on the cover of the Agreement, as footers on each page or elsewhere therein, unless specifically indicated. The Agreement shall remain in full force and effect until 11:59 p.m. on December 31, 2026, and shall thereafter continue in full force and effect from year to year and shall be renewed for successive years unless written notice of termination or a desire to modify or change this Agreement is given by either party at least one hundred twenty (120) days prior to the expiration date. Upon receipt of such notice, a conference shall be arranged within thirty (30) days.

FOR THE UNION:

FOR CUYAHOGA COUNTY:

Chris Ronayne, County Executive, or designee pursuant to Executive Order EO2023-0003, dated July 6, 2023

Approved to as legal form:

MunDing

#### OPBA (PROTECTIVE SERVICES OFFICERS) AND CUYAHOGA COUNTY SIDE LETTER AGREEMENT #1 VACATION

Effective upon final approval of the Agreement, the Employer agrees that the number of Employees scheduled or approved vacation leave will be a maximum of seven (7) Employees on any given date.

FOR THE UNION:

OPBA Attorney

FOR CUYAHOGA COUNTY:

Armord Budish

**CUYAHOGA COUNTY EXECUTIVE**